STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

May 17 2023

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM ANDERSON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
The Honorable R. Scott Sprouse

Case No. 2020-CP-04-01202
Appellate Case No. 2022-001527

Moats Construction, Inc.,

Appellant,

v.

Cecil R. Dyar,

Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

David L. Paavola, SC Bar No. 100714
Kenison, Dudley & Crawford, LLC
1122-B Barnwell Street
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
(864) 242-4899
paavola@conlaw.com
Attorney for Moats Construction, Inc.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Moats Construction, Inc. initiated this action and requested a jury trial on its legal claims. Was it error for the circuit court to grant summary judgment on Cecil Dyar's equitable counterclaim and end the case without affording Moats the opportunity to conduct discovery and present its legal claims to a jury?

- II. Moats Construction, Inc. initiated this action and asserted legal claims against Cecil Dyar for breach of contract and negligence. Dyar counterclaimed for foreclosure. Where both parties' claims arise out of their rights and duties under the same contract, was it error for the circuit court to grant summary judgment on the equitable foreclosure claim before the legal claims were heard and determined?

- III. In a foreclosure action, was it error for the circuit court to award damages to "reimburse" a claimant for amounts of taxes and insurance the claimant never paid, to award damages for interest charges not provided for in the contract of sale, and to award damages for late payment penalties where the parties modified the terms of payment?

INTRODUCTION AND STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In 2011, Moats Construction, Inc. (hereinafter, “Moats”) and Cecil Dyar (hereinafter, “Dyar”) entered into a bond for title for Moats to purchase from Dyar a commercial/industrial property located in Anderson, South Carolina. After the end of the initial five-year term of the agreement, Moats continued to make payments and sought to establish a net balance owed to Dyar taking into consideration amounts Dyar owed to Moats for: (1) Dyar storing heavy equipment inside the building on the property; (2) Dyar failing to remove pallets from the property as agreed and Moats incurring this expense; (3) Dyar allowing liens to be placed on the property by City of Anderson; and (4) Dyar failing to pursue an insurance claim for roof damages from a 2017 hurricane. Ultimately, the parties could not agree on a balance owed and Moats brought suit to establish these amounts.

On June 2, 2020, Moats filed a complaint against Dyar asserting causes of action for breach of contract, negligence, accounting and set-off, and specific performance, all arising out of the parties’ performance of a 2011 Agreement for Sale and Purchase of Real Property (hereinafter, the “Agreement”), wherein Moats agreed to purchase property from Dyar located at 300-600 W. Orr Street, Anderson, South Carolina (the “Property”). (R. pp. 52-54, 56-59). On June 23, 2020, Dyar answered the complaint and asserted a counterclaim for foreclosure. (R. p. 63).¹ A reply to Dyar’s counterclaim was not timely filed, and Dyar’s counsel filed an affidavit of default on February 15, 2021. On February 18, 2021, Dyar moved for judgment on the pleadings or, in the alternative, for summary judgment. (R. p. 78). On February 22, 2021, Moats’s then-counsel moved for enlargement of time to reply to Dyar’s counterclaim. (R. p. 88).

1. Dyar had previously filed a complaint against Moats in November 2019 for default of the Agreement but he did not complete service on Moats and instead asserted a counterclaim in this action.

On April 13, 2021, the circuit court held a hearing on Dyar's motion for summary judgment. (R. p. 462). On May 4, 2021, the circuit court granted Dyar's motion for summary judgment by Form 4 Order, directing that a formal order follow, as well as a damages hearing. (R. p. 5). The court did not rule on Moats's motion for enlargement of time to file a reply to counterclaim. On May 7, 2021, Moats moved for reconsideration of the Form 4 Order granting summary judgment, in part on the basis that it prevented Moats from pursuing its legal claims for breach of contract and negligence against Dyar. (R. p. 146 ¶ 1). On June 10, 2021, the circuit court entered its formal Order Granting Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. p. 9). On June 18, 2021, Moats filed an amended motion to reconsider and amend judgment, again raising the argument that it was prevented from moving forward on its legal claims against Dyar. (R. p. 149 ¶ 1).

On February 4, 2022, Moats's then-counsel moved to be relieved. On February 24, 2022, the circuit court held a damages hearing on Dyar's foreclosure counterclaim for which it had previously granted summary judgment. (R. p. 481). At the hearing, Moats's counsel was directed to remain in the case until the order setting damages was entered. (R. p. 535, lines 6-13). On April 11, 2022, the circuit court issued a Form 4 Order awarding damages to Dyar and directing a formal order to follow. (R. p. 17). On July 20, 2022, the circuit court held a hearing on the proposed order on damages, Moats's motions to reconsider summary judgment, Moats counsel's motion to be relieved, and Moats's new counsel's motion for status conference. (R. p. 552). Moats's new counsel brought to the court's attention certain errors in the damages calculation in the proposed order and requested that the damages hearing be reopened and Moats be allowed to present testimony from a licensed CPA on these errors. (R. p. 557, line 23-p. 558, line 8). The court

denied Moats's request to reopen the damages hearing and directed that all such errors be addressed in a motion to alter or amend. (R. p. 565, lines 7-24).

On July 21, 2022, the circuit court: (1) issued a Form 4 Order denying Moats's motions for reconsideration of the order granting summary judgment, (R. p. 20); (2) granted Moats's former counsel's motion to be relieved; and, (3) issued an Order Granting Defendant's Motion for Damages and Judgment of Foreclosure and Sale, setting damages as of April 1, 2022, at \$250,614.04, (R. p. 38). On July 29, 2022, as directed by the court, Moats moved to alter or amend the order on damages and foreclosure, contending that the principal and interest due under the Agreement should be reduced by approximately eighty-three thousand dollars, and again asking the circuit court to allow Moats's legal claims to be pursued prior to Dyar's equitable counterclaim for foreclosure and sale of the Property. (R. p. 173).

On September 8, 2022, the circuit court held a hearing on Moats's motion to alter or amend the order on damages and foreclosure. (R. p. 574). On October 4, 2022, the circuit court issued an order denying Moats's motion to alter or amend. (R. p. 23). On October 10, 2022, the Master-in-Equity for Anderson County entered a Notice of Sale. (R. p. 26). On October 26, 2022, Moats filed a notice of appeal.

On November 23, 2022, the circuit court entered a Consent Order and Satisfaction of Judgment, reflecting that Moats paid the full amount of the judgment to Dyar of \$266,466.49, as adjusted for interest, costs, and attorney's fees from the July 21, 2022 order on damages. (R. p. 30).

This appeal followed, and Moats now seeks restitution of certain amounts paid to Dyar under the judgment, and a remand to pursue its legal claims against Dyar related to: (1) Dyar's failure to pursue an insurance claim for roof damages from a 2017 hurricane, leaving the property

uninsurable; and (2) Dyar's failure to remove equipment from the Property, which interfered with Moats's exclusive possession of the Property. (R. pp. 52-54, Compl. ¶¶ 6-8, 10-12, 14-15). These legal claims should offset, or result in restitution of, amounts Moats already paid to Dyar to satisfy the judgment. When the circuit court granted summary judgment and foreclosure to Dyar, Moats was prevented from continuing discovery and presenting its legal claims to a jury. This was error.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

In 2011, Moats Construction, Inc. and Cecil Dyar entered in an Agreement for Sale and Purchase of Real Property (the "Agreement") for Moats to purchase from Dyar the real property located at 300-600 W. Orr Street Anderson, South Carolina (the "Property"), for \$250,000.00. (R. p. 56, Agreement ¶¶ 1, 2). Moats agreed to make a down payment of \$37,500.00 and finance the \$212,500.00 balance at six percent interest over five years, equating to a monthly payment of \$4,108.22. (R. p. 56, Agreement ¶ 3). The Agreement also required a monthly escrow payment of \$405.00, reflecting Moats's responsibility to pay real property taxes and casualty insurance, and making the total combined monthly payment \$4,513.22. (R. p. 56-57, Agreement ¶¶ 3(c), 5, 14). The Agreement did not include provisions for charging interest on top of accrued interest (compounding interest), or charging interest on accrued late payment penalties.

Modifications of the Agreement

After entering the Agreement, Dyar and Moats modified its terms in three significant ways: (1) insurance coverage; (2) payment of taxes; and (3) payment terms.

First, the Agreement required Moats to insure the Property, (R. p. 57, Agreement ¶ 14); however, the parties modified this provision when they agreed that Dyar would continue to insure the Property under his prior company's name, Anderson Steel Processing, Inc., and that Moats would reimburse Dyar for insurance premiums. (R. p. 212, Moats Aff. ¶¶ 8-9). This practice

continued for seven years until the February 2017-2018 policy period, when Moats paid premiums directly to the insurance carrier. (R. p. 212, Moats Aff. ¶ 9). Moats did not renew the insurance policy after the insurance carrier paid only \$3.31 towards a roof damage claim caused by Hurricane Irma in September 2017. (R. p. 212, Moats Aff. ¶¶ 10-12). The Property has been uninsured since 2018, and neither Moats nor Dyar have paid premiums to insure the Property. (R. p. 212, Moats Aff. ¶ 12).

Second, the Agreement required Moats to pay real property taxes directly to Anderson County. (R. p. 57, Agreement ¶ 5). The parties modified this provision and Dyar agreed to pay such taxes directly to the county and be reimbursed by Moats. (R. pp. 211-12, 214-19, Moats Aff. ¶¶ 6-7, Ex. 1 thereto). This practice continued through 2015. Beginning with the 2016 tax year, Moats began paying all real property taxes directly to Anderson County rather than through Dyar. (R. p. 212, 214-19, Moats Aff. ¶ 7, Ex. 1 thereto (2015-2020 tax bills)).

Third, the Agreement required Moats to pay monthly installments of \$4,513.22, (R. p. 56, Agreement ¶ 3); however, after six months of payments, the parties modified the payment terms. (R. p. 540, Pruett-Lange Spreadsheet Ex. 1 Damages Hearing). Dyar permitted Moats to make irregular payments, which it did for the next six and a half years, through May 2018. (R. p. 520, lines 17-21; p. 531, line 2 – p. 532, line 20; R. p. 540, Pruett-Lange Spreadsheet Ex. 1 Damages Hearing). Even though the Agreement included a 5% late payment penalty, (R. p. 57, Agreement ¶ 12), Dyar never asserted his right to a late payment penalty and he assented to the modified payment structure as reflected by the parties' course of dealing over six and a half years, where Dyar: (1) accepted Moats's modified payments—larger or smaller than the monthly amount set forth in the Agreement; (2) never declared Moats in default; (3) never terminated the contract; (4) never notified Moats that any payment was late or that a late pay penalty would be assessed; and

(5) sought to extend the Agreement another five years. (R. p. 508, lines 19-24, R. p. 520, lines 19-21; R. p. 142-43, Moats Dep. 100:24-103:14).

Agreement's Expiration April 2016

At the end of the Agreement's five-year term in April 2016, the principal balance on the loan according to Dyar's bookkeeper was \$148,228.71—Moats having paid Dyar over \$195,000.00 through April 2016, of which approximately \$26,000 was for taxes and insurance, over \$100,000 (40%) toward the purchase price, and the balance for interest and late payment penalties, which are disputed.² (R. p. 541, line 60). In addition to the more than \$195,000 paid to Dyar between May 2011 and April 2016, Moats paid an additional \$35,000 between May 2016 and May 2018. (R. p. 544).

On or about July 1, 2016, Dyar unilaterally signed an extension of the Agreement to March 16, 2021; however, Moats testified at the damages hearing that he never received a copy of this proposed extension. (R. p. 551; R. p. 510, line 8-p. 512, line 19). Moats had no intention of agreeing to an extension because he wanted to reach an agreement with Dyar on a full payoff amount considering numerous issues with the Property, including: (1) Dyar's failure to remove heavy equipment stored inside the building on the Property, which hindered Moats's use and enjoyment of the Property for more than five years; (2) Dyar's failure to clean-up pallets on the property as agreed; (3) Dyar's failure to pay certain fees and resolve resultant liens placed on the Property by the City of Anderson that were sent to Dyar's attention as the listed property owner; and, (4) disputed access with the nearby railroad owner that forced Moats to hire legal counsel and

2. Moats contends that Dyar's bookkeeper failed to account for a \$3,000.00 cash payment in February 2013. If such payment is included, the principal balance as of April 2016 is \$144,602.68 and Moats would have paid more than \$105,000 in principal. See Section II(D), *infra*. The principal balance further reduces if late payment penalties and certain erroneous interest charges are excluded from Pruett-Lange's calculation. See Section II(E), (F), *infra*.

incur professional fees for surveying and appraisal. (R. p. 503, lines 9-18; R. p. 504, lines 10-14; R. p. 508, line 3-p. 509, line 8; R. p. 511, lines 7-8; R. p. 520, lines 1-15; R. p. 531, line 22-p. 532, line 3). Moats requested a payoff from Dyar that fully accounted for these issues so that Moats could pay off the balance and become the owner of record and more effectively address the railroad access issue and the City of Anderson liens; however, the parties could not agree on a payoff amount. (R. p. 508, line 14-p. 509, line 3).

Before the parties could reach agreement on a payoff amount, in September 2017, Hurricane Irma damaged the building's roof. (R. p. 212, Moats Aff. ¶ 10; R. p. 504, lines 15-19). The insurance company denied the full amount of the claim and only paid \$3.31. (R. p. 212, Moats Aff. ¶ 10). Moats requested that Dyar, as the insured, contest the claim payment amount, but Dyar refused to do so. (R. p. 504, lines 15-19).

The parties never reached agreement on a final payoff amount and Moats filed this action in June 2020 to resolve the parties' dispute.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“Whether a party is entitled to a jury trial is a question of law.” *Wachovia Bank, Nat. Ass'n v. Blackburn*, 407 S.C. 321, 328, 755 S.E.2d 437, 441 (2014) (quoting *Verenes v. Alvanos*, 387 S.C. 11, 15, 690 S.E.2d 771, 772 (2010) (internal quotation marks omitted)). “Appellate courts may decide questions of law with no particular deference to the circuit court's findings.” *Id.* (citation omitted).

“A mortgage foreclosure is an action in equity.” *Wachovia Bank*, 407 S.C. at 328, 755 S.E.2d at 440-41 (quoting *Hayne Fed. Credit Union v. Bailey*, 327 S.C. 242, 248, 489 S.E.2d 472, 475 (1997) (internal quotation marks omitted)). An appellate court “review[s] factual findings and legal conclusions in an equitable action de novo.” *Regions Bank v. Wingard Properties, Inc.*, 394 S.C. 241, 248, 715 S.E.2d 348, 352 (Ct. App. 2011). “In an appeal from an action in equity tried

by a judge, appellate courts may find facts in accordance with their own views of the preponderance of the evidence.” *Wachovia Bank*, 407 S.C. at 328, 755 S.E.2d at 441; *see also Matter of Estate of Kay*, 423 S.C. 476, 482, 816 S.E.2d 542, 545 (2018) (recognizing that in equitable matters, “the appellate courts of this state may take their own view of the preponderance of the evidence”).

ARGUMENT

I. Moats was Entitled to a Jury Trial on Its Legal Claims Before the Entry of Foreclosure and Sale.

Moats initiated this action and requested a jury trial on its legal claims for breach of contract and negligence. As such, it was entitled to a jury trial on its legal claims first, before the court held a hearing on Dyar’s foreclosure counterclaim to set damages and order a sale of the Property. Instead, the circuit court granted summary judgment on Dyar’s equitable counterclaim, set damages, and ordered that the Property be sold. Consequently, Moats was prevented from having a jury hear its legal claims. This was error.

Moats was entitled to a jury trial before the entry of foreclosure because: (1) it initiated this action and demanded a jury trial on its legal claims; and (2) all claims asserted by Moats and Dyar are logically related to the Agreement and, as such, the legal claims must be tried before the equitable claims.

A. Moats Initiated this Action, Asserted Legal Claims, and Demanded a Jury Trial.

The circuit court erred when it effectively denied Moats’s right and demand for a jury trial. Moats initiated this action, asserted legal causes of action against Dyar, and demanded a jury trial. (R. p. 50, Compl. 1). Moats sought a jury trial to establish the value of its legal claims for breach of contract and negligence against Dyar, and then requested the court to set-off those amounts against any amount still owing Dyar under the Agreement to purchase the Property. (R. p. 54,

Compl. ¶¶ 14-15). The circuit court effectively prevented Moats from moving forward on its legal claims and jury trial after it granted summary judgment on Dyar's foreclosure counterclaim and moved forward to set damages and order a sale of the Property. (R. pp. 13-14). The court's order setting damages and ordering foreclosure ended the case without Moats's legal claims ever being heard. (R. p. 17, Form 4 Order Damages (indicating that this order "ends" the case)). As such, the court erroneously prevented Moats from pursuing its legal claims against Dyar.

It is well established that a plaintiff has a right to demand a jury trial for legal causes of action. "The South Carolina Constitution provides that the right of trial by jury is to be 'preserved inviolate.'" *Lester v. Dawson*, 327 S.C. 263, 267, 491 S.E.2d 240, 242 (1997) (quoting S.C. Const. art. I, § 14). Whether a jury trial right exists depends on "whether an action is legal or equitable; there is no right to trial by jury for equitable actions." *Id.* Where, as here, a case combines both legal and equitable claims, "the legal issues are for determination by a jury and the equitable issues are for determination by the court." *Bateman v. Rouse*, 358 S.C. 667, 673, 596 S.E.2d 386, 389 (Ct. App. 2004) (citing *Floyd v. Floyd*, 306 S.C. 376, 379, 412 S.E.2d 397, 398-99 (1991)). When a complaint raises both legal and equitable claims, the legal claims are tried first and the jury's factual findings are binding on the court sitting in equity. *Johnson v. South Carolina Nat. Bank*, 292 S.C. 51, 55, 354 S.E.2d 895, 897 (1987).

Moats's causes of action against Dyar for breach of contract and negligence are legal causes of action, and, as such, Moats was entitled to a jury determination of these claims. *Sterling Development Co. v. Collins*, 309 S.C. 237, 241, 421 S.E.2d 402, 404 (1992) ("An action for breach of contract seeking money damages is an action at law."); *Blue v. Harrelson*, No. 2004-UP-656, 2004 WL 6339711, at *2 (Ct. App. 2004) (action for negligence seeking damages is an action at law (citing *Advance Int'l, Inc. v. North Carolina Nat'l Bank of South Carolina*, 316 S.C. 266, 271,

449 S.E.2d 580, 583 (Ct. App. 1994), *aff'd in part and vacated in part*, 320 S.C. 532, 466 S.E.2d 367 (1996))).

The lower court erred when it granted summary judgment on Dyar's equitable counterclaim for foreclosure and prevented Moats from moving forward with discovery and a jury trial on its legal claims. Moats raised this issue to the circuit court before the entry of foreclosure in its briefing in opposition to summary judgment, (R. pp. 138-39); in moving the court to reconsider its order granting summary judgment, (R. p. 146-47, Mot. Reconsider & Amend ¶ 1 (May 7, 2021); R. pp. 150, 153, Am. Mot. Reconsider & Amend at 2, 5 (June 19, 2021)); and, finally, in moving the court to reconsider its order entering damages, foreclosure and sale, to allow Moats to proceed with a jury trial of its legal claims, (R. pp. 186-87). In each instance, the circuit court denied Moats's request and the case ended without a jury, or anyone, hearing Moats's legal claims. The case ended upon entry of the court's order setting damages, judgment of foreclosure, and sale. (R. p. 34). This was error.

B. Moats's Legal Claims Were Logically Related to Dyar's Foreclosure Counterclaim and Should Have Been Tried First.

Even if Moats's legal claims had arisen in the procedural posture that is perhaps more common in foreclosures—as a defendant asserting counterclaims in response to an action to foreclose on real property—Moats's legal claims would have satisfied the criteria for compulsory counterclaims and should have been given the priority to be heard and decided ahead of Dyar's equitable foreclosure claim. It was error for the lower court to refuse to hold the foreclosure in abeyance pending the completion of discovery and a jury's resolution of Moats's legal claims.

Where a case has both equitable and legal claims, and those claims have common issues, the South Carolina Supreme Court has directed that the legal claims be resolved prior to the equitable claims:

We . . . hold that where a complaint is equitable and the counterclaim is legal and compulsory, the trial judge has two options. He may either order separate trials pursuant to Rule 42(b) or may order the claims tried in a single proceeding. In making this determination, caution should be taken to assure that, under the circumstances of the case, a joint trial will not deprive a party of his right to a full jury trial of legal issues.

Moreover, *when issues common to both legal and equitable claims are to be tried in a single proceeding, legal issues are to be determined first*, and the findings of the jury are binding on the sitting judge, as trier of the equitable claims.

. . .

If separate trials are ordered, the judge must determine which issues are to be tried first. If there are factual issues common to both claims, absent the “most imperative circumstances,” *Beacon Theatres, Inc. v. Westover*, 359 U.S. 500, 79 S.Ct. 948, 3 L.Ed.2d 988 (1959), the “at law” claim must be tried first.

Johnson, 292 S.C. at 55-56, 354 S.E.2d at 897 (emphasis added) (internal citations omitted).

If a legal claim is compulsory, it must be tried ahead of equitable claims. *Johnson*, 292 S.C. at 56, 354 S.E.2d at 897. A claim is compulsory if it arises out of the same transaction or occurrence. *North Carolina Federal Sav. and Loan Ass’n v. DAV Corp.*, 298 S.C. 514, 517, 381 S.E.2d 903, 905 (1989); Rule 13(a), SCRPC. The South Carolina Supreme Court has directed that courts use the logical relationship test to evaluate whether a claim is compulsory, which asks whether “there is any logical relationship between the claim and the counterclaim.” *Id.* at 518, 381 S.E.2d at 905.

Here, Moats’s legal claims and Dyar’s equitable counterclaim all arise out of and relate to the Agreement. The Agreement required Moats to keep casualty insurance on the Property throughout the term of the Agreement. (R. p. 57, Agreement ¶ 14). However, the parties modified this provision early-on during the term of the Agreement, whereby Dyar assumed the responsibility for keeping the Property insured through an existing policy on the building, and Moats agreed to pay policy premiums to Dyar. (R. pp. 52-53, Compl. ¶ 6; R. p. 212, Moats Aff. ¶¶ 8-9). In its

complaint, Moats asserted legal claims for breach of contract, contending that Dyar breached this modified term of the Agreement by failing to exercise good faith and fair dealing to keep the property insured when Dyar failed to pursue an insurance claim in 2017 that would have kept the building insurable after a 2017 hurricane damaged the roof. (R. pp. 52-53, Compl. ¶¶ 6-7). Moats also alleged that Dyar breached the Agreement by failing to turn over exclusive possession of the Property to Moats when Dyar left numerous pieces of equipment on the Property that interfered with Moats's exclusive possession, and entitled Moats to recover the reasonable rental value for the lost use of property. (R. p. 53, Compl. ¶ 8).

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