RECEIVED

May 22 2023

SC Court of Appeals

IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM ANDERSON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable R. Scott Sprouse

Case No. 2020-CP-04-01202
Appellate Case No.: 2022-001527

MOATS CONSTRUCTION, INC.Appellant,

v.

CECIL R. DYARRespondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

James W. Logan, Jr., SC Bar No. 3385
logan@loganandjolly.com
LOGAN & JOLLY, LLP
Post Office Box 259
Anderson, SC 29622
(864)226-1910
(864)226-1931 (fax)
Attorney for Respondent

Date: 5-22-2023

Other Counsel of Record:

David L. Paavola, SC Bar No. 100714
Kenison, Dudley & Crawford, LLC
1122 Barnwell Street, Suite B
Columbia, SC 29201
Attorneys for Appellant

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

ARGUMENT

I. Moats is barred from pursuing his appeal because he voluntarily paid the amount of the Judgment and filed a Satisfaction of Judgment.

A. After the issuance of the Court's final Order (October 4, 2022) and Notice of Sale, Moats prepared and filed a Consent Order and Satisfaction of Judgment stating that "...the Judgment in this action be shown as satisfied." (Order dated November 23, 2022). Thereafter, the public sale, for which notification to the public had been given as required, was cancelled, title was transferred to Bry Tye Moats Construction Company, LLC and full payment of the amount of the judgment was sent to and received by Dyar. In other words, the litigation between the Plaintiff-Appellant and the Defendant-Respondent was ended and the Judgment in favor of Dyar against Moats has been paid and satisfied. Therefore, there is nothing in this case for this Court to consider and this case is over. *Reedy River Power Co. v. City of Laurens, et al.* 109 S.C. 240, 96 S.E. 116 (1918).

Further, pursuant to S.C. Code Ann., §18-9-170, Moats had the option to either post a bond to stay the execution of this Judgment and appeal the decision of the Lower Court to the South Carolina Supreme Court or satisfy the Judgment. Moats chose to avoid, for whatever reason, the lesser expense associated with obtaining such a bond and voluntarily

paid the full amount of the Judgment. Moats had a choice, post a bond and stay the execution of the judgment or pay the judgment. He voluntarily chose the latter. Accordingly, there is nothing in this case for the Court to consider. *Reedy River Power Co. v. City of Laurens, et al.* 109 S.C. 240, 96 S.E. 116 (1918); *Kelm v. Hess*, 8 Ohio App. 3d 448, 457 N.E. 2d 911 (1983).

B. Appellant states in the Affidavit of Russell Moats that was attached to Appellant's Return to Respondent's Motion to Dismiss as follows:

"5. Upon entry of the circuit court's Order Granting Defendant's Motion for Damages and Judgment of Foreclosure and Sale, I undertook the process of investigating the process for obtaining a bond. During my research, I learned about the potential costs of a bond secured by real estate and costs for a bond secured by cash. I was informed by one bond provider that a bond in the amount of the court's judgment would have to be secured by cash." (emphasis added).

It is interesting to note that nowhere in the Affidavit does it state that Moats did not have the financial ability to pay for a bond either secured by real estate or cash. In *Kelm v. Hess*, 457 N.E. 2d 911, the Court stated "since appellant was in a financial position to pay the judgment, she undoubtedly would have been able to give an adequate appeal bond." Further, he makes no statement/allegation wherein he alleges that his ultimate decision was based upon his concern that, if the Judgment was reversed or modified, he would be unable to obtain complete restitution. The reason is obvious. He had no such concerns. Moats, by his own admissions, actions and testimony, had the financial ability to pay the Judgment in full, which he did, or post a bond, which he didn't do, and makes no assertions as to any restitution issues/concerns in his Affidavit (Appellant's Exhibit 4). Therefore, Moats voluntarily failed to post a bond and voluntarily chose to pay the Judgment without any expressions of concern as to his ability to obtain restitution if he

was successful on appeal. Stated another way, Moats had the opportunity to post a bond and stay this action, thus preserving his right to appeal and, depending on the result of that appeal, claim a right to restitution. However, Moats voluntarily chose another course of action and is bound by that choice. *Kelm v. Hess*, 457 N.E. 2d 911.

Further, while argued in his brief by his attorney, there was absolutely no evidence presented in his Affidavit that Moats was ever concerned about the issue of restitution and is now the owner of the real property since he paid the Judgment in full. In addition, it is very interesting that the only authorities from South Carolina that Appellant cites in his Brief dealing with the issue of restitution are cases dealing with workers compensation claims as opposed to claims in an action for a judgment of foreclosure directing the sale of real property. Further, there is absolutely no evidence presented in his Affidavit that restitution could not be enforced if the Appellant was successful on appeal.

Appellant's Affidavit gives no details as to the extent of his investigation into the bond issues, comparative costs of a bond secured by real estate as opposed to cash, nor the number of bond providers (other than one) with whom he discussed the need for a cash bond; and, not once did he mention that his decision was based upon any hardship(s) - financial/restitution, etc. - of any kind.

The Appellant also contends that there was never an agreement between the parties to end this litigation. However, the relevant question on this point is whether there was ever an Agreement to pay the Judgment in full and allow the Appellant to proceed with his appeal? The answer to that question is an emphatic "NO." (See Appellant's Exhibit 5). Appellant had a right to satisfy the Judgment – that was his choice. He does

not have the right to imply that this satisfaction was a part of any “agreement” to allow him to proceed with his appeal after doing so. No such agreement exists!

Finally, there are no issues separate and apart from the Judgment of Foreclosure. The Lower Court heard all issues in this case, as the Court Orders reflect. When the Judgment was paid, this litigation, and all issues contained therein, ended and there is nothing further to consider on appeal.

There is no longer in existence a “Final Judgment” necessary to create a “Right to Appeal” as referenced in Rule 201(a), South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure. The Final Judgment has been satisfied!

II. Moats has no factual or legal basis for any of his claims/defenses in this case.

Moats has known that he owed Dyar an amount of money under the Agreement since January 5, 2018. However, he testified, under oath, that he owed nothing under that Agreement. That is a false statement. The record clearly established that Moats retained an attorney in late 2017 to, among other things, calculate the amount owed to Dyar under the Agreement at that time. The attorney, in his letter to Moats dated January 5, 2018 stated that, as of January 31, 2017, Moats owed Dyar \$83,38.98. That calculation included principal, interest, carrying costs, property taxes and insurance pursuant to the Agreement as of that date, but it did not include attorney’s fees of fifteen (15%) percent of the then balance due. No such payment or any other payments were thereafter made to Dyar by Moats between December 31, 2017 and his payment to satisfy the judgment in November, 2022. Moats made no attempt at his deposition, the Summary Judgment hearing or the damages hearing to present any evidence in support of his “legal claims”,

alleged offsets/credits, or his alleged claim for failure to properly handle an insurance claim.

Dyar was clearly entitled to judgment by default, as determined by the Court, leaving only the issue to damages. Dyar's damages in the amount of \$250,614.04 were clearly established at the damages hearing. Moats had every opportunity, both at the hearing on the Motion for Summary Judgment and at the damages hearing, to challenge the amount owed and to present any evidence he had regarding any "legal issues" and/or issues that could impact the determination of "damages" and he chose not to either present that evidence or present sufficient evidence regarding these issues as the Court determined.

Based upon the Plaintiff's own testimony, he has no legally sufficient basis for any of his claims/defenses in this case. Moats retained two (2) "expert witnesses" who both determined that, under any circumstances, he owed Dyar money (Swent letter dated January 5, 2018 and report prepared by Travis Lively dated August 26, 2021). Moats disagreed with those reports and, therefore, made no attempt to introduce those documents into evidence or call either as a witness in this case. Further, Moats is clearly in default and the only issue is "how much." That question was answered by the uncontroverted testimony of Joshua Pruiett-Lange, expert witness who testified on behalf of Dyar. (See Affidavit of Joshua Pruiett-Lange).

Moats asserted that he was entitled to credits designated by him as "legal issues" for "improvements" made, "sweat equity" and the cost of a "new roof" which is not even in place. However, by the express terms of the Agreement, Moats was not entitled to any such "credits." Even if Moats made such improvements or engaged in any "sweat equity",

for which he offered no proof, the Agreement does not provide for any such credits. The Agreement provides, in Paragraph #10, that the “Risk of Loss” is “upon the Purchaser...” The Agreement further provides in Paragraph #18, that “the Purchaser acknowledges that Purchaser has made an inspection of the Premises and accepts the same AS IS, WITH ALL FAULT.” Moats remained in possession of the Premises from January 21, 2011 to November 7, 2022. Regarding the insurance premiums, Dyar testified that he paid those premiums on the building for six (6) years so that he could be sure that the building was insured. He also testified that a storm came through one year and the insurance investigator/adjuster confirmed the extent of the damage and wrote him a check for \$32,000.00 which Dyar gave to Moats. Moats did not challenge that testimony in any way.

Moats also asserted that, despite having his deposition taken and given the right to testify at both the summary judgment hearing and the damages hearing, he was denied the opportunity to assert a “legal” claim that he refers to as the “failure to pursue an uninsured claim” arising out of hurricane damage to the building roof in 2017. This apparently refers to the above claim dealing with the cost of a new roof set forth above. While acknowledging this Agreement required Moats to keep casualty insurance on the property throughout the term of the Agreement, Moats states that the provision was “modified” but presented no evidence to support any such modification. As a point of fact, the modification/Addendum/Amendment applies only to the extension of the date of the Agreement. Further, he alleged that this “legal” claim was based upon an alleged modification to the Agreement whereby Dyar assumed the responsibility for keeping the property insured and Moats agreed to pay the policy premium to Dyar, i.e. reimbursed

Dyar for that payment. However, what we know, based upon the actual evidence in this case, is that Moats made no payments to Dyar for anything from December 31, 2017 until the Satisfaction of Judgment. In fact, it was Dyar who presented Moats with the insurance check in the amount of \$32,000.00.

At the conclusion of the damages hearing, Moats' attorney called his client as a witness and he testified, under oath, without any basis and in contrast to previous attorney/accountants who, at various times in this case, had calculated amounts due under the Agreement, that he did not owe Dyar a dime. In other words, he did not agree with the calculations determining the amount owed under the Agreement as determined by his own experts but presented no proof in support of his statement.

Based upon the above, it is clear that a damages hearing was held by this Court on February 24, 2022; that Dyar presented unchallenged testimony as to the amounts due under the Agreement in question; that Moats, in the process, was given every opportunity to testify on his own behalf during his deposition, at the summary judgment hearing and at the damages hearing and present evidence in support of his testimony on any and all issues in this case, including both liability and damages, and assert any and all claims he had against Dyar but he chose not to do so! He even failed to pay his own witnesses who he had retained to issue reports on the issue of damages or to pay those witnesses to testify at trial regarding their opinion. As stated in its Order, the Court concluded that Moats is not entitled to any relief whatsoever.

In the alternative, the results as to the liability of Moats to Dyar would have been the same whether these "legal" claims had been tried before a jury as they would have been dismissed by the Court at the directed verdict stage based upon evidence, or lack thereof,

that he presented. A jury must base its verdict on evidence. The failure of Moats to present evidence in any trial, jury or non-jury, would have resulted in the same outcome as a matter of law!

CONCLUSION

Based upon the above reasoning and authorities, the Respondent respectfully asks this Court to rule in favor of the Respondent on all issues and dismiss this appeal.



James W. Logan, Jr., SC Bar No. 3385
logan@loganandjolly.com
LOGAN & JOLLY, LLP
Post Office Box 259
Anderson, SC 29622
(864)226-1910
(864)226-1931 (fax)